## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel. DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS.

Case No. 73277

Electronically Filed Nov 09 2017 08:33 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

BRIAN LUDWICK, an individual; the STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel. its DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, PERSONNEL COMMISSION, HEARING OFFICER,

Respondents.

District Court No. A-16-741032

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review

**Eighth Judicial District Court** 

## APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NEV. R. APP. P. 3A(b)(1) and NRS 233B.150. The Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County, Nevada's (District Court) Order Denying Petition For Judicial Review was entered on May 9, 2017. The Notice of Entry of Order was electronically served on May 10, 2017. The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on June 8, 2017.

This appeal is from the District Court's final order denying Appellant's Petition for Judicial Review.

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NEV. R. APP. P. 17(b)(10) as it relates to an administrative agency appeal not involving tax, water, or public utilities commission determinations.

However, recently the Nevada Supreme Court granted review of a Court of Appeals' Order to clarify the appropriate level of deference owed to an appointing authority's disciplinary decision. *See O'Keefe v. State*, No. 68460 (Jun. 27, 2017) (order granting petition for review). The parties were ordered to submit supplemental briefing regarding the correct standard to be employed by a hearing officer. *See id.* This case involves similar questions of the correct standard for a hearing officer and whether a hearing officer can overturn an appointing authority's disciplinary decision after finding that the employee has committed the

misconduct. As the standard is unclear, the Nevada Supreme Court should retain this case pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11). Retention will ensure that this case is decided in harmony with *O'Keefe*.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the District Court erred when it affirmed the hearing officer's decision.
- 2. Whether the substantial rights of NDOC have been prejudiced by the District Court's denial of the Petition for Judicial Review and the hearing officer's reversal of the termination.
- 3. Whether the District Court's Order denying the Petition for Judicial Review should be set aside for the following reasons:
  - a. The hearing officer clearly erred and abused her discretion when she failed to make findings of fact regarding *Dredge* and failed to give deference to NDOC's decision to terminate in direct opposition to the Court's mandate in *Dredge v. State ex rel. Dep't of Prisons*, 105 Nev. 39, 769 P.2d 56 (1989) and *State of Nev. ex rel. Dep't of Prisons v. Jackson*, 111 Nev. 770, 773, 895 P.2d 1296, 1298 (1995).
  - b. The hearing officer used the incorrect standard of proof and relied on a preponderance of the evidence standard instead of substantial evidence in reviewing the appointing authority's decision to terminate.
  - c. The hearing officer clearly erred when she found that NDOC's Administrative Regulation (AR) 339, which sets forth the Nevada Department of Correction's Code of Ethics, Employee Conduct and Prohibitions and Penalties, required approval by the Nevada Personnel Commission and therefore only admitted AR 339 for the limited

purpose of showing the kind of conduct NDOC deemed to be misconduct but not for the purpose of proving the penalty associated with the proscribed conduct.

- d. The hearing officer clearly erred and exceeded her statutory authority when she substituted her judgment for that of NDOC in determining the appropriate penalty for a class 5 terminable offense.
- e. The hearing officer clearly erred and acted arbitrarily and capriciously in reversing the termination in view the reliable probative and substantial evidence on the whole record.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

This case involves the termination of Brian Ludwick (Employee) from his position as a correctional officer with the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC) based upon a clear and serious security breach which occurred while he was on duty at Florence McClure Women's Correctional Center (FMWCC). JA, Vol. II, 0337-0393. This clear and serious security violation occurred on April 1, 2015, when Employee left his assigned post without prior authorization from a supervisor. Id.

Employee appealed his termination to the Department of Administration Personnel Commission in accordance with the provisions set forth in NRS Chapter 284. JA, Vol. II, 0450-0451. After holding a hearing and considering evidence, the hearing officer found that Employee knew or should have known that Employee had a duty to obtain permission from a supervisor prior to leaving his post and found that credible testimony supported a finding that Employee left his post on

April 1, 2015 without obtaining prior authorization from a supervisor. JA, Vol. I, 0126. Further, the hearing officer found that Employee engaged in inexcusable neglect of duty by leaving his post without prior permission of a supervisor and that he violated a "very important safety and security policy." JA, Vol. I, 0128. Such conduct constitutes a terminable offense pursuant to NDOC AR 339. Despite finding that Employee committed a terminable offense, the hearing officer improperly reversed the termination and recommended a suspension not to exceed 30 days. JA, Vol. I, 0095-0096. In reaching her decision, the hearing officer determined that AR 339, which sets forth NDOC's Code of Ethics, Employee Conduct, and Prohibitions and Penalties, had not been approved by the Nevada Personnel Commission and, therefore, admitted AR 339 for the "limited purpose of showing the kind of conduct NDOC deemed to be misconduct but not for the purpose of proving the penalty associated with the proscribed conduct." JA, Vol. I, 0115. As a result, the hearing officer did not give any weight to why NDOC deems a correctional officer abandoning his post to be a terminable offense. JA, Vol. I, 0038-0047, 0115. Additionally, pursuant to well-established Nevada Supreme Court authority, the hearing officer was required to but did not give *Dredge* deference to the appointing authority's decision to terminate when the facts indicated Employee's conduct implicated serious security concerns for NDOC. JA Vol. I, 0115-0130. See State of Nev., ex rel. Dep't of Prisons v. Jackson, 111 Nev. 770, 773, 895 P.2d

1296, 1297 (1995).

NDOC filed a Petition for Judicial Review on August 1, 2016. JA, Vol. I, 0001-0023. The District Court issued an Order Denying the Petition for Judicial Review on May 9, 2017. JA, Vol. III, 0731-0732. NDOC is now appealing the District Court's May 9, 2017, Order. JA, Vol III, 0743-0751.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

## A. Employment with NDOC

Employee began his employment as a correctional officer with NDOC on January 7, 2013. JA, Vol. II, 0477-0478. Prior to commencing his employment, Employee signed NDOC's AR Acknowledgement form, acknowledging that it was his responsibility to familiarize himself with NDOC's ARs, including AR 339. JA, Vol. II, 0370. Employee began working at FMWCC on February 19, 2015. JA, Vol. II, 0478. As a correctional officer, he was responsible for the supervision of inmates, which included escorting inmates to culinary from the unit, making sure inmates received their supplies, and making sure inmates reported to work. JA, Vol. II, 0478-0479. Correctional officers are posted throughout the institution to meet the safety and security needs of the facility, the staff and the public. JA, Vol. III, 0530-0531.

## **B.** Employee Commits Terminable Misconduct

On April 4, 2015, Employee was working the 5:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. shift at

FMWCC. JA, Vol. II, 0479. When Employee reported to work at approximately 4:45 a.m., he reported to shift command to find out where he was assigned. JA, Vol. II, 0480-0481. Lieutenant Gary Piccinini (Piccinini)<sup>1</sup>, Employee's direct supervisor, assigned Employee to Unit 1. Id. On that day, three correctional officers, including Employee, were assigned to Unit 1. JA, Vol. II, 0481-0482. Employee reported to Unit 1 as assigned. JA, Vol. II, 0479.

When Employee reported to work, he was not feeling well, and he told the other officers in Unit 1 that he was not feeling well. JA Vol. II, 0482. Employee contacted Senior Correctional Officer Terry Day regarding this but Senior Day told him that he was not in charge of shift and to contact Piccinini. JA, Vol. II, 0483-0484. Piccinini was assigned as the lead shift supervisor in charge of the sergeants, senior correctional officers and correctional officers. JA, Vol. II, 0520. Employee called Piccinini, but there was no answer. JA, Vol. II, 0483-0484. Although Employee had a radio, he did not use his radio to contact Piccinini. JA, Vol. II, 0500; JA, Vol. III, 0522. At approximately 5:15 a.m., Employee left his post in Unit 1 to go to the shift command office. JA, Vol. II, 0482. However, Employee did not have authorization to leave his assigned post. JA, Vol. II, 0484; JA, Vol. III, 0522.

Once at the shift command office, Employee asked Piccinini if he could be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Piccinini was promoted to Associate Warden in December 2015. Therefore, at the time of the incident Piccinini was a Lieutenant; however, at the time of the hearing Piccinini was an Associate Warden.

moved to Unit 5, stating that he was more familiar with Unit 5 than Unit 1. JA, Vol. II, 0369; JA, Vol. III, 0521-0522. According to Employee, he told Piccinini he forgot to take his medication and was not feeling well. JA, Vol. II, 0484. According to Piccinini, Employee did not state he was experiencing any medical distress, only that he wanted to be moved to Unit 5. JA, Vol. III, 0522. Piccinini declined to move Employee to Unit 5 because he wanted Employee to learn Unit 1. JA, Vol. II, 0369, 0484; JA, Vol. III, 0521. After denying his request, Piccinini stated that Employee became angry and told Piccinini, "Well how about I use FMLA then because I have not taken my blood pressure medication, how's that!" JA, Vol. II, 0369; JA, Vol. III, 0523-0524. Piccinini told Employee that is fine, and Employee stormed out of the office and left the institution. Id.

## C. Staffing and Security

Unit 1, one of the largest units at FMWCC, has six pods and can house up to 325 inmates, which is approximately one third of the inmate population at FMWCC. JA, Vol. III, 0527-0528. On April 4, 2015, there were three legislatively approved posts for Unit 1. JA, Vol. III, 0527. On that day, mandated minimum staffing for Unit 1 was two officers. Id. One officer is always required to remain in the control room. JA, Vol. I, 0118; JA, Vol. II, 0347. If only two officers are assigned to Unit 1, that would leave only one officer responsible for performing work and maintaining security for approximately three hundred inmates. Id.

Subsequently, the minimum staffing was changed from two to three officers because there had been an increase in incidents involving inmate assaults. JA, Vol. III, 0529, 0572-0573. Piccinini testified that he would like to see six officers assigned to Unit 1 because three officers are not sufficient to staff the large unit. JA, Vol. III, 0539. Since Unit 1 is categorized as a general population unit, inmates get tier time, recreation yard time, and are rarely in their cells. JA, Vol. II, 0348.

Piccinini assigned three officers to Unit 1 on April 4, 2015, because he had the staff available for the three legislatively approved posts and having more officers meant more security for the unit. JA, Vol. III, 0527. Having two officers instead of three officers in Unit 1 makes the unit less secure and puts the inmates and staff at risk. JA, Vol. III, 0528. Also, as the on duty supervisor, Piccinini is responsible for ensuring his staff is trained in all areas of the prison. JA, Vol. II, 0348. Warden Jo Gentry testified that while minimum staffing at the time in Unit 1 was one floor position and one control position, on a regular basis FMWCC had a least two floor positions and one control position for a total of three officers in Unit 1. JA, Vol. III, 0571.

When an officer leaves his post without authorization, it is a serious and grave infraction. JA, Vol. III, 0530. Officers are assigned to various posts to meet the institution's needs of safety and security. JA Vol. III 0530-0531. If an officer leaves their assigned post without authorization from their supervisor or chain of

command, they leave the unit vulnerable, particularly if an incident occurs and the officer is not able to respond and ensure the safety of inmates and other staff in the unit. JA, Vol. III, 0531. The chain of command is to know at all times where officers are assigned for these safety reasons. Id. Warden Gentry testified that leaving a post without authorization is a serious infraction:

When any staff member from any post leaves their assigned area, if they were to leave their assigned area, it reduces the immediate response to any incidences that would require immediate assistance from any staff members or inmates. That would include if any inmates were needing assistance if they were getting physically assaulted, sexually assaulted or if they had a medical emergency that required immediate attention. That would also include any staff members in the area that would require assistance for what we call backup as an additional responder to either deescalate a situation or to protect that officer to remove them from that area so they can control and contain that incident so that it doesn't spread throughout he institution.

The other reason is the accountability. We need to know where our staff are at all times. If they were to just be permitted or it was a practice of letting them leave whenever they wanted, we wouldn't know where they were at. So if they had a medical emergency or if they were placed in a hostage situation, and we didn't know where they were at, then we wouldn't be able to assist them when it was needed for their needs.

JA, Vol. III, 0563.

## **D.** Disciplinary Process

After Employee left the institution, Piccinini wrote a report regarding Employee leaving his assigned post without authorization and his possible abuse of FMLA. JA, Vol. II, 0369; JA, Vol. III, 0525-0526. The matter was assigned for investigation to the Office of the Inspector General and assigned to Investigator Arthur Emling. JA, Vol. II, 0343-0392; JA, Vol. III, 0544-0545. The investigation included an interview of Employee and four other witnesses as well as a review of records and policy related to Employee's conduct. JA, Vol II, 0343-0363. The investigation led to the following sustained allegation of misconduct: neglect of duty for Employee leaving his assigned post without authorization from a supervisor. JA, Vol. II, 0393-0395. As a result, NDOC served Employee with a Specificity of Charges for the following violations: NAC 284.650(1), activity which is incompatible with an employee's conditions of employment established by law or which violates a provision of NAC 284.653 or 284.738 to 284.771, inclusive; NAC 284.650(3), the employee of any institution administering a security program in the considered judgment of the appointing authority, violates or endangers the security of the institution; NAC 284.650(7), inexcusable neglect of duty; and AR 339.05.15 (UU), leaving an assigned post while on duty without authorization of a supervisor, Class 5. JA, Vol. II, 0337-0392. Warden Gentry recommended termination and Acting Director E.K. McDaniel made the final

decision to terminate Employee. JA, Vol. III, 0567-0568. NDOC terminated Employee effective December 28, 2015, for his misconduct on April 4, 2015. JA, Vol. II, 0337-0392, 0477.

## E. Procedural History

Employee requested a hearing regarding his termination with a hearing officer of the Nevada State Personnel Commission pursuant to NRS 284.390. JA, Vol. I, 0120; JA, Vol. II, 0450-0451. A hearing was held on May 27, 2016, before Hearing Officer Cara L. Brown. JA, Vol. II, 0445-0447, 0458-500; JA, Vol. III, 0501-0633. On June 27, 2016, Hearing Officer Brown issued her Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision (Decision). JA, Vol. I, 0115-0130. In the Decision, the hearing officer found that Employee knew or should have known that Employee had a duty to obtain permission from a supervisor prior to leaving his post and found that credible testimony supported a finding that Employee left his post in Unit 1 on April 1, 2015 without obtaining prior authorization from a supervisor. JA, Vol I, 0126. Further, the Hearing Officer found that Employee engaged in inexcusable neglect of duty by leaving his post without prior permission of a supervisor and that he violated a "very important safety and security policy." JA, Vol I, 0128. Despite these findings, the hearing officer held "[t]hat the preponderance of the evidence does not establish that Mr. Ludwick's termination was for the good of the public service," reversed NDOC's decision to terminate Employee, and ordered

Employee's reinstatement and reimbursement for back pay and benefits from December 28, 2015 until May 27, 2016. JA, Vol. I, 0129. Further, in her Decision, the hearing officer determined that AR 339, which sets forth NDOC's Code of Ethics, Employee Conduct, and Prohibitions and Penalties had not been approved by the Personnel Commission and therefore, admitted AR 339 for the "limited purpose of showing the kind of conduct NDOC deemed to be misconduct but not for the purpose of proving the penalty associated with the proscribed conduct." JA, Vol. I, 0115. Thus, the hearing officer did not rely on AR 339 in making her decision. JA, Vol. I, 0122-0125.

On July 15, 2016, NDOC filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing that the hearing officer's order was in error because AR 339 did not require approval by the Personnel Commission and AR 339 is a lawful administrative regulation that should have been given full weight in the hearing officer's final decision. JA, Vol. I, 0097-0102. NDOC argued that Article 5 § 21 of the Nevada Constitution and NRS Chapter 209 created the Board of State Prison Commissioners to head NDOC and authorized it to prescribe regulations for the operation of NDOC; therefore, NDOC was exempt from obtaining approval of AR 339 from the Personnel Commission. *Id.* Employee opposed NDOC's Motion for Reconsideration. JA, Vol. I, 0048-0096.

On July 25, 2016, the hearing officer denied NDOC's Motion for

Reconsideration and upheld her previous ruling that AR 339 had to be approved by the Personnel Commission in order to rely on AR 339 as a basis for termination, essentially invalidating NDOC's prohibitions and penalties for its employees. JA, Vol. I, 0038-0047.

On August 1, 2016, NDOC filed a Petition for Judicial Review appealing the final decision in this matter and requested the District Court reverse the hearing officer's decision to reverse the termination and reinstate the Employee with back pay and benefits. JA, Vol. I, 0002-0023. The matter was fully briefed and a hearing was held on April 19, 2017, before the Honorable Nancy Allf. See JA, Vol. III, 0634-670; JA, Vol. III, 0671-0711; JA, Vol. III, 0712-0730; JA, Vol. III, 0731-0732. Judge Allf denied the petition for judicial review and found that the hearing officer's decision was reasonable given that the facts found by the hearing officer supported the decision, that there was no clear error in the application of law, the hearing officer did not exceed her authority or abuse her discretion, the hearing officer's decision was not arbitrary or capricious and that the evidentiary standard used by the hearing officer was sufficient to justify the result. JA, Vol. III, 0731-0732; JA, Vol. IV, 0768.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The hearing officer abused her discretion when she reversed the termination based on the preponderance of the evidence standard instead of substantial

evidence standard. The hearing officer's final decision is contrary to Nevada law, which affords employer-agencies the right to discipline their employees in accordance with Nevada law and regulations. NRS 284.020(2). The hearing officer's ruling that NDOC's AR 339 requires approval from the Personnel Commission was in clear error. AR 339 has the full force and effect of law, having been approved by the Board of State Prison Commissioners pursuant to its authority under the Nevada Constitution and State statute to oversee all aspects of Nevada's prisons.

Pursuant to AR 339.05.15, leaving an assigned post while on duty without authorization of a supervisor is a Class 5 offense. The prescribed penalty for a first offense of a Class 5 offense is dismissal from State service. The hearing officer found that Employee did in fact leave his assigned post without authorization of a supervisor but determined that dismissal was too harsh of a penalty and reversed the termination. In reversing the termination—despite finding that Employee engaged in misconduct—the hearing officer exceeded her statutory role. In addition, the hearing officer's decision was arbitrary and capricious and an abuse of discretion because the record revealed that Employee committed a serious security violation and deference therefore should have been given to the appointing authority.

This Court should reverse the District Court's Order denying the Petition for

Judicial Review which affirmed the hearing officer's final decision because the hearing officer exceeded her statutory authority, acted in clear error of law, abused her discretion, and issued a decision that was arbitrary and capricious and clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence of the record.

## **ARGUMENT**

#### A. Standard of Review.

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