#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Electronically Filed Jan 03 2018 01:53 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown DOCKET Derk 37 Supreme Court

Appellant,

V.

BRIAN LUDWICK, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Respondent

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS DANIEL MARKS, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 002003 ADAM LEVINE, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 004673 610 South Ninth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Attorneys for Respondent

# **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO NRAP 26.1**

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Hearing Officer correctly determined that NDOC did not have just cause to terminate the employment of correction officer Brian Ludwick. The evidence at the hearing clearly demonstrated that Brian Ludwick did not endanger the security of the institution so as to require the hearing officer to defer to the Appointing authority under *Dredge v. Department of Prisons*, 105 Nev. 39, 769 P.2d 56 (1989).

The Hearing Officer correctly decided the case under the preponderance of the evidence standard. Unlike employees in the private sector who are presumptively employed at will, post probationary members of the classified service of the State of Nevada may only be terminated for just cause. This creates a constitutionally protected property interest in their employment within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause. The evidentiary hearing provided for under NRS 284,390 is the post-termination hearing required by constitutional due process. It would violate the Fourteenth Amendment to deprive an employee of their property interest in their employment under standard of proof less than preponderance of the evidence.

In unpublished decisions Nevada's Court Appeals has applied the definition of just cause in *Southwest Gas Corp. v. Vargas*, 111 Nev. 1064, 901 P.2d 693 (1995). However, *Vargas* is not applicable to public employees who have a constitutionally protected property interest in their employment. *Vargas* arose in the private sector under an implied contract of continuing employment arising from an employee handbook. *Vargas* was premised on the notion that an employer's unilateral declaration that it would not terminate an employee without just cause, without more, does not establish that an employer has contracted away its fact-finding prerogative. Such an approach has no application where, as in the classified service of the State of Nevada, the Legislature has by statute placed the fact-finding prerogative with a State Hearing Officer.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The provisions of NRS 233B.135(3) state:

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of fact. The court may remand or affirm the final decision or set it aside in whole or in part if substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the final decision of the agency is:

- (a) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) In excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) Made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) Affected by other error of law;
- (e) Clearly erroneous in view of the reliable probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion.

Under subsection (2) of NRS 233B.135, the hearing officer's decision is to be deemed "reasonable and lawful" and it is the state that bears the burden of proof to demonstrate the decision is invalid under the criteria of subsection (3).

Where, as here, there is "substantial evidence" in the record, the Findings of the hearing officer are not merely entitled to "deference"; they are conclusive. State Employment Security Department v. Nacheff, 104 Nev. 347, 575 P.2d 787 (1988). The Decision of the hearing officer may not be disturbed unless the rights of the petitioner have been "prejudiced" for the specific statutory reasons set forth under NRS 233B.135. While the courts are free to decide purely legal issues without deference to the determination of the administrative agency, where the agency's conclusions of law are necessarily closely related to the agency's view of the facts, the agency's conclusions of law are likewise entitled to deference and may not be disturbed if supported by substantial evidence. Jones v. Rosner, 102 Nev. 215, 719 P.2d 805 (1986).

In reviewing the decision of an administrative agency, this court may not substitute its own judgment for that of the hearing officer with regard to the weight of the evidence or the credibility of the witnesses. *Gilman v. Nevada State Board of Veterinary Medical Examiners*, 120 Nev. 263 (2004); *Knapp v. State Department of Prisons*, 111 Nev. 420, 423, 892 P.2d 575 (1995); *Nevada Industrial Commission v. Williams*, 91 Nev. 686, 541 P.2d 905 (1975). This Court

may not disturb the hearing officer's decision unless the Court finds that the decision was "arbitrary and capricious". To be "arbitrary and capricious", the decision of the administrative agency must be in "disregard to the facts and circumstances involved". *Meadow v. The Civil Service Board of LVMPD*, 105 Nev. 624, 781 P.2d 772 (1989).

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE HEARING OFFICER WAS NOT OBLIGATED TO DEFER TO THE APPOINTING AUTHORITY BECAUSE THERE WAS INO EGREGIOUS SECURITY BREACH.

NDOC's Opening Brief erroneously argues that the State Hearing Officer abused her discretion in failing to defer to the Appointing authority citing *Dredge* v. *Department of Prisons*, 105 Nev. 39, 769 P.2d 56 (1989). NDOC's Opening Brief further erroneously argues that the hearing officer did not make any findings with regard to whether there was a "clear and serious security threat" caused by Ludwick's use of approved FMLA leave.

At the outset, it must be recognized that the taking of approved FMLA leave can never constitute a "clear and serious security threat" as a matter of law. Congress, as a matter of public policy, has determined that the needs of employees to care for their own serious health conditions, and those of their families, outweigh the interests of employers subject to the FMLA. See 29 U.S.C. §2601. It is the responsibility of employers subject to the FMLA, such as NDOC, to

properly staff their facilities in a manner such that the exercise of statutory rights does not create a security concerns.

No deference to the decision of NDOC was required in this case. Contrary to the arguments of NDOC, the Hearing Officer did in fact make express findings that there were no security concerns.

In *Dredge v. State ex rel. Department of Prisons*, 105 Nev. 39, 769 P.2d 56 (1989) Justice Springer issued his famous dissent from the deference given by that Court to the Appointing authority stating:

I dissent because this case represents an excellent example of when the judicial branch of government should keep its nose out of administrative affairs. In compliance with the statutory scheme a Nevada Personnel Hearing Officer, after a full-day hearing, involving ten witnesses and the introduction of numerous exhibits, ruled that Dredge's actions did not warrant his permanent dismissal from state civil service. Now, for reasons far from satisfactory, this court intrudes into the prescribed scheme of things and destroys this man's career. I disapprove.

105 Nev. at 45, 769 P.2d at 60. Justice Springer asserted "Taking a new and impartial view of the evidence is exactly what personnel hearing officers are supposed to do." 105 Nev. at 47, 769 P.2d at 62.

Six (6) years later in *Knapp v. Department of Prisons*, 111 Nev. 420, 892 P.2d 575 (1995) the Nevada Supreme Court recognized the wisdom of Justice Springer's dissent from Dredge holding:

20 ///

Generally, a hearing officer does not defer to the Appointing authority's decision. A hearing officer's task is to determine whether there is evidence showing that a dismissal would serve the good of the public service. *Dredge*, 105 Nev. at 42, 769 P.2d at 58 (citing NRS 284.385(1)(a)). A hearing officer "determine[s] the reasonableness" of a dismissal, demotion, or suspension. NRS 284.390(1). "The hearing officer shall make no assumptions of innocence or guilt but shall be guided in his decision by the weight of the evidence as it appears to him at the hearing." NAC 284.798. Justice Springer noted in his dissent in *Dredge*: "Taking a new and impartial view of the evidence is exactly what personnel hearing officers are supposed to do."

111 Nev. at 424, 892 P.2d at 577-578 (emphasis added). The *Knapp* Court held that the only time the appointing authority was entitled to any form of deference was "whenever security concerns are implicated in an employee's termination." *Id.* 

However, a mere two (2) months after the *Knapp* decision the Supreme Court in *State ex rel. Dept. of Prisons v. Jackson*, 111 Nev. 770, 895 P.2d 1296 (1995) clarified that this deference over security concerns will only be applied in the most egregious of circumstances holding:

 Although the issue of security concerns requires deference to the appointing authority, we will not consider this exception unless the facts indicate a clear and serious security threat. Therefore, this exception will be applied only in cases of egregious security breaches and will not be allowed to undermine the job security of otherwise permanent employees, who deserve to have a fair and independent evaluation of the agency head's termination decision.

111 Nev. at 773, 895 P.2d at 1298.

- -

There was no such egregious security breach in this case. Rather, Warden Gentry specifically found to the contrary in her adjudication:

It is recommended that Brian Ludwick receive a Specificity of Charges – consisting of one (5) day suspension from State Service in lieu of the Class 5 Dismissal of State Service since there was no security breach resulting from him leaving his post.

(JA Vol. I at 361).

Under cross-examination, Warden Gentry conceded that she found no security violation and had recommended only a five (5) day suspension, however Human Resources informed Gentry that the discipline had to be changed to termination to remain consistent with what had been done in the past at NDOC. (JA Vol. III at 583-584). Ironically, the notion that the discipline must be consistent for what occurred in the past for the same offense is directly contrary to the provisions of A.R. 339 which states "There is no requirement that charges similar in nature must result in identical penalties" and Appointing Authorities and reviewers "should neither rely solely on previously imposed penalties nor quote them as authority in penalty rationales". (JA Vol. I at 195-196).

After reviewing all the evidence, including the findings of OIG that Minimum Staffing levels were maintained, the Hearing Officer concluded that there was no egregious security breach requiring deference:

Based upon the foregoing, this Hearing Officer finds that Mr. Ludwick engaged in inexcusable neglect by leaving his post without

the prior permission of a supervisor. The question now is whether it was reasonable to terminate Mr. Ludwick for violating NRS 284.650(7). For the following reasons, this Hearing Officer finds that termination was too harsh a penalty. Mr. Ludwick had no prior discipline. The minimum permitted staffing on the day in question was two officers. Had there been a serious security risk by having less than three scheduled officers, presumably, Lieutenant Piccinini would have assign someone else to the post after Mr. Ludwick was allowed to leave the institution on FMLA leave.

(JA Vol. I at 019). Accordingly, NDOC's argument that the Hearing Officer did not make any findings of fact on the issue of whether the security of the prison was impacted is clearly without merit.

Whether there was an egregious security breach was a contested issue of fact at the hearing. NRS 233B.135(3) states "The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of fact." Where, as here, the Hearing Officer finds that there was no security breach based upon the evidence received at the hearing, this court may not disturb that finding.<sup>1</sup>

Actually the only decision of the Hearing Officer that was arbitrary and capricious was her finding that it was permissible to discipline him at all for exercising his rights under the FMLA. The Hearing Officer relied upon the FMLA regulations that 29 CFR §825.303(c) that it employee "must comply with the employer's usual and customary notice and procedural requirements for requesting leave, absent unusual circumstances." (JA Vol. I at 018). However, the undisputed evidence established that there was no "usual and customary notice and procedural requirements". As detailed in the report of the OIG, the notion that one must get permission to leave one's post was only promulgated and distributed by an e-mail a few days prior to April 4, 2015, but Ludwick had not received that e-

1 II. THE HEARING OFFICER PROPERLY DECIDED THE ISSUSE OF WHETHER THERE WAS JUST CAUSE TO TERMINATE 2 OFFICER LUDWICK UTILIZING THE PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE STANDARD OF PROOF. 3 NRS 284.390(6) states: 4 If the hearing officer determines that the dismissal, demotion or suspension was without just cause as provided in NRS 284.385, the 5 action must be set aside and the employee must be reinstated, with full pay for the period of dismissal, demotion or suspension. 6 7 NDOC's Opening Brief argues that the hearing officer erred by utilizing 8

the preponderance of the evidence standard, rather than the lesser substantial evidence standard, to determine whether there was just cause to terminate Officer Ludwick. This argument by NDOC is based upon the language discussing just cause found in *Southwest Gas Corp. v. Vargas*, 111 Nev. 1064, 901 P.2d 693 (1995) (hereafter "*Vargas*") stating:

A discharge for "just" or "good" cause is one which is not for any arbitrary, capricious or illegal reason and which is based on facts (1) supported by substantial evidence, and (2) reasonably believed by the employer to be true.

111 Nev. at 1078, 901 P.2d at 701.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

mail as of the date of the incident. (JA Vol. I at 182; Volume III at 512). The evidence was undisputed that Ludwick first tried calling Shift Command, but nobody answered. Because Ludwick had already resolved to leave NDOC following his reinstatement, he elected not to file, or waste the money pursuing, a cross-petition in connection with the recommended suspension.

In a recent unpublished opinion, Nevada's Court of Appeals, without any 1 2 critical analysis, has cited this language from Vargas to hold a hearing officer 3 erred by utilizing the preponderance of the evidence standard. Nevada Department of Motor Vehicles v. Adams, 2017 WL 521774 (January 30, 2017); see also 4 5 Morgan v. Department of Business and Industry, Taxicab Authority, 2016 WL 2944701 (May 16, 2016). However, the term "just cause" may have different 6 7 meanings in different contexts. See Adams v. Harding Machine Co., Inc., 56 Ohio JA.3d 150, 565 N.E.2d 858 (1989) ("just cause" as used in the unemployment 8 compensation statute has a different meaning than as that term is used in an 9 10 employment contract); Vann v. Town of Cheswold, 945 A. 2d 1118 (De. 2008); 11 Cotran v. Rollins Hudig Hall International, Inc., 69 Cal. Rptr. 2nd 900, 948 P.2d

412 (1998) (J. Mosk concurring).

As detailed below the standard from *Vargas* was developed in the context of private sector at-will employment and has no applicability to a determination of just cause in the classified service. Utilizing a standard lower than a preponderance of the evidence to deprive members of the classified service of their property interest in their employment would violate due process.

18 ///

12

13

14

15

16

17

19 ///

20 ///

A. The Definition of Just Cause From Vargas Was For Implied Contracts Of Continuing Employment And Has No Applicability Where The Legislature Has Assigned The Fact Finding Function To A State Hearing Officer.

This Court's decision in *Vargas* arose in the private sector where employment is presumptively at will, and involved a unilateral promise made in an employee handbook. The approach from *Vargas* was taken from the Oregon Supreme Court's decision in *Simpson v. Western Graphics Corp.*, 643 P.2d 1276 (Or. 1982) which addressed the extent to which a unilateral promise made in an employer's handbook should be given contractual effect. 111 Nev. at 1073, 901 P.2d at 699. The *Simpson* decision relied upon by the Court stated:

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